1966

M & S Construction & Engineering Company v.
Clearfield State Bank and Vern M. Smith, et al. :
Brief of Appellants

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff's action was for damages against the Bank at Clearfield upon two grounds: (a) breach of agreement to extend financing assistance to the extent of \$50,000 on a continuing or revolving line of credit basis, as required by plaintiff, to take care of payrolls and operating costs pending receipt of payments from the prime contractor on the basis of monthly estimates; and (b) damages for improper appropriation by the Bank of funds belonging to plaintiff, received by the Bank in trust subject to prior payment of all debts for labor and lienable obligations of plaintiff.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was submitted to the jury on the first cause of action on special interrogatories (R. 87) as to (a) whether such an agreement was made by the Bank; and (b) whether the Bank breached the agreement. Both interrogatories were answered by the jury in the affirmative.

Thereafter, the jury was requested to assess the damages suffered by plaintiff on the basis of instructions given by the Court as to the elements to be considered in fixing damages for breach of contract. (R. 88-91). The jury then rendered its verdict fixing plaintiff's damages in the sum of \$156,000.00. (R. 95)

Issues pertaining to the second cause of action were not submitted to the jury, but were reserved for determination by the Court as a matter of law on the basis of the uncontradicted evidence; the Trial Court having theretofore determined that the measure of damages would be the same in the second cause of action as in the first, since the result to plaintiff was the same, namely forfeiture of its contract rights under the Steenberg contract.

Thereafter, defendant Bank filed its motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (R. 97-99) which was granted by the Trial Court upon two grounds: that the contract for financing was unenforceable because it was in violation of the Statute of Frauds, as one which was not to be performed within one year; and that the fund represented by the \$38,862.54 check from Steenberg

was not received by the Bank in trust as a special deposit or deposit for a special purpose, and hence that it was available to the Bank for its appropriation and application as it saw fit. (R. 108-112).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks to have the verdict of the jury reinstated and the final judgment entered thereon, or in the alternative that the judgment be entered as a matter of law on the second cause of action on the basis of the uncontradicted evidence. Plaintiff and Additional Defendant Vern M. Smith seek to be relieved from affirmative judgments entered against them on several notes.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Steenberg Construction Company had a general contract to construct the Lost Creek Dam for the Bureau of Reclamation on the Weber Basin Project. Steenberg, in turn, made a subcontract dated June 17, 1963, with plaintiff M & S Construction Company for digging the core trench portion of the job (Exhibits A and I) with the usual provisions for monthly payments to be made by Steenberg to M & S on the basis of monthly estimates as to value of labor performed and materials furnished, remittance to be made to M & S by Steenberg from money received from the Bureau, less 10% to be retained by Steenberg until final completion of the subcontract.

The subcontract also contained provisions requiring M & S to pay all costs of labor and materials as the same

became due and to save Steenberg harmless for all claims and mechanics' liens on account thereof, and to furnish Steenberg *as and when requested satisfactory evidence that M & S had complied with such payment obligations.* The subcontract further provided that if M & S shall default in performance of the contract, Steenberg shall have the right to take over the job, have full access to and use of all equipment in the care, custody and control of M & S, and to take over and complete the contract itself (see paragraphs I (a), V, XII, and paragraphs 1 (d) of the agreement of the contractor on page 2 of Exhibits A and I.)

In general business practice such contracts call for financial assistance by the contractor to carry payrolls and obligations and to pay installment payments on equipment and materials until the receipt of monthly estimate payments (T. 66, 81, 82), particularly in the early stages of the job. (T. 66, 81, 82) M & S and its principal stockholders were depositors with defendant Bank so the Bank, through its Executive Vice President, Mr. Jesse D. Barlow, solicited the business of furnishing this financial service to M & S. (T. 23, 24) At first, M & S did not feel that it would need such assistance, because it had practically completed two jobs, one at Dugway Proving Grounds and another at Cedar City Airport, from which it was about to receive final payment; but early in August, 1963, M & S accepted the invitation of Mr. Barlow for the Bank to furnish this assistance on the Bank's financial plan for a revolving or continuing line of credit (T. 80, 82, 113, 114). This arrangement was consummated on or about August 23, 1963. The limit of

credit was first set at \$25,000.00, and then raised to \$50,000.00, to be utilized as needed, and effectuated by the making and renewal of short-term notes to cover payroll checks and other lienable expenditures, in accordance with a pattern described by Mr. Barlow of the Bank, and as found by the Court and jury to be true as alleged by plaintiff (T. 87). Before making this agreement, however, the Bank requested and received a copy of the M & S contract with Steenberg, submitted the same to its counsel, and discussed the merits of the agreement with Mr. Walsh, Steenberg's vice president (T. 66).

To secure the defendant Bank against loss, the Bank had its counsel prepare an assignment of all funds due or to become due to M & S from Steenberg under the subcontract, *totaling an estimated \$754,579.00, as collateral security for all loans made and to be made by the Bank to M & S, (see Exhibit B) which assignment was executed by M & S, notarized by Mr. Barlow, and then transmitted by the Bank to Steenberg for acceptance, which was done on August 23, 1963.*

The defendant Bank thereafter, as additional security, also took similar assignments of all funds due and to become due to M & S on the jobs at Cedar City (\$30,000.00), and at Dugway (\$5,000.00) (T. 15, 17, 183), in addition to chattel mortgages on the interest of M & S in various equipment then owned or being purchased by M & S.

The financing arrangement was performed according to agreement during September, 1963. Payroll checks were drawn and honored as presented, and short-term

loans were made and a note was renewed as agreed. The September estimate for work done during August was duly received by check made payable to the Bank and M & S, with an endorsement on the back of the check to be signed by both that all obligations for labor and materials had been paid (see the reverse side of Exhibit G) and during this period M & S continued to issue its payroll checks to its employees which were duly honored by the Bank. This was in accordance with the pattern established as a part of the financing agreement for the revolving or continuing credit between the Bank and M & S as described by Mr. Barlow, with the understanding that all such checks were to be countersigned by Mr. Claire A. Nielson, an accountant acceptable to the Bank. (T. 62, 63, 128).

The October payment from Steenberg for work done during September, 1963, was delayed in arrival for reasons that are not material to this appeal, so the defendant Bank, through its Executive Vice President, Mr. Jesse Barlow, personally undertook the job of obtaining the money from Steenberg; made long distance phone calls to Mr. Walsh of Steenberg to find out why the delay, and Mr. Walsh explained to him that the Government had not transmitted funds as promptly as usual because of a change in location of the accounting office (Exhibit H); but finally, on October 23, 1963, a check for \$38,862.54 from Steenberg, made payable to M & S and the Bank, arrived, with an endorsement on the reverse side to be signed by both M & S and Mr. Barlow for the Bank, as set forth verbatim in our discussion under Point II. This check was accompanied by a letter of transmittal signed

by Steenberg addressed to the defendant Bank, also set forth verbatim in our discussion of Point II.

In the meantime, these payroll checks on the Lost Creek job had been given to laborers in accordance with the Agreement, and the same had been permitted to accumulate in the Bank. (T.128).

The letter of transmittal from Steenberg, with the check, arrived at the post office at Clearfield, Utah, in the evening, after the close of business, but Mr. Barlow, not content to wait until the morrow, got the postmaster to go down to the post office to get it out, called Mr. Mendenhall of M & S to come over and endorse the check, and then had an officer of an Ogden bank, its correspondent, put its stamp on the check following an endorsement by Mr. Mendenhall of M & S and the endorsement by defendant Bank; and then the Ogden bank officer personally took the check to the airport in Salt Lake that same night for mailing to St. Paul, Minn., for payment. It was during this time, while the Bank was waiting for the check to clear that M & S became fearful that the Bank might not honor its financing agreement, so it had its attorney, Mr. Pritchett, call on Mr. Barlow at the Bank to urge the Bank to adhere to its financing agreement. (T. 89, 90) Mr. Barlow requested Mr. Pritchett not to communicate to Steenberg any intimation of trouble between the Bank and M & S until after the check had cleared. Then, when Mr. Barlow had been advised personally by Mr. Walsh of Steenberg over long distance phone that the check had cleared, he called Mr. Stoker of M & S into the Bank and then for the first and final

time directed that all payroll checks of M & S on the Lost Creek job were to be dishonored, payment refused, (T. 127, 131), and directed that the amount of the check be credited to obligations of M & S to the Bank and its officers excepting only a small amount, one of which obligations so paid was not yet due, including also a \$2,000.00 note owned by Mr. Barlow and Mr. Steed personally, and one note subject to the renewal agreement.

The result was of course that Steenberg immediately defaulted M & S on the job, made arrangements to pick up the outstanding payroll checks, took over all equipment, and M & S lost not only its investment in the job amounting to \$100,129.91 (Exhibit N), but also its anticipated profit; all as found by the verdict of the jury to be in the sum of \$156,000.00. (T. 129, 134)

The jury found for M & S on all issues on the basis of the Trial Court's instructions as to the issues on the first cause of action and as to the measure of damages.

The Trial Court then, upon motion of the defendant bank, considered the Bank's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, which was thereafter granted on July 12, 1966 upon the following grounds:

1. That the financing contract for revolving credit between M & S and the Bank was invalid because it was barred by the Statute of Frauds as contemplating action not to be performed within one year; and

2. That the evidence did not show that the deposit of \$38,862.54 received by the Bank from Steenberg on October 23, 1963, was received in trust as a deposit for

special purpose, namely to pay for labor and materials on the job; and hence was available to the Bank for its appropriation.

This appeal is from the order and judgment of the Trial Court in making and entering that judgment notwithstanding the verdict of the jury.

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE AGREEMENT UPON WHICH APPELLANT BASED ITS CAUSE OF ACTION AND WHICH AGREEMENT WAS FOUND BY THE JURY IN ANSWER TO SPECIAL INTERROGATORY TO HAVE EXISTED IN FACT, WAS BARRED BY THE PROVISIONS OF 25-5-4 (1) UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, IN THAT SAID AGREEMENT BY ITS TERMS WAS NOT TO BE PERFORMED WITHIN ONE YEAR FROM THE MAKING THEREOF.

During the course of this lawsuit there has been mention of several contracts, subcontracts and agreements. We are presently concerned with one and only one of these, namely the Bank's agreement to finance M & S on the Lost Creek Dam Project, as alleged in appellant's second cause of action. There is no question as to whether or not such Agreement did in fact exist for such was resolved in the affirmative by the jury's answer to Special Interrogatories. The question remains to be resolved by this Court as to whether or not such Agreement is enforceable under the provisions of the Utah Statute of Frauds found at 25-5-4 (1) Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which reads as follows:

In the following cases every agreement shall be void unless such agreement or some note or

memorandum thereof is in writing subscribed by the party to be charged therewith:

- (1) Every agreement that by its terms is not to be performed within one year from the making thereof.
- (2) *****
- (3) *****
- (4) *****
- (5) *****

The nature of the Agreement was such that the Bank agreed and promised to lend to M & S, as and when required by M & S, for the purpose of providing finances to carry on its work under the terms and provisions of the subcontract between M & S and Steenberg Construction Company, certain sums of money and to renew such loans from time to time to the date of final payment by Steenberg Construction Company (T. 87). M & S contends that there is nothing within the terms of the subcontract referred to which by the terms thereof negate the possibility of performance within one year from the making of the agreement to loan money. Such factor is extremely significant as will appear from an analysis of the authorities on this subject.

In discussing this point of law 2 Corbin on Contracts 534 states at Section 444:

. . . In its actual application . . . the courts have been perhaps even less friendly to this provision than to the other provisions of the Statute. They have observed the exact words on this provision and have interpreted them literally and very narrowly. . . . In general the cases indicate that there

must not be the slightest possibility that it (the Agreement) can be fully performed within one year.

It makes no difference how long the agreed performance may be delayed, or over how long a period it may in fact be continued. It makes no difference how long the parties expect the performance to take or how reasonable and accurate those expectations are, if the agreed performance can possibly be completed within a year. Facts like these do not bring a contract within the Statute. A provision in the contract fixing a maximum period within which performance is to be completed, even though that period is much in excess of one year, does not make the Statute applicable. A building contract is frequently such that it can be fully performed within one year. If so, it is not within the one year clause however long the parties may expect to take or actually do take.

In the subcontract referred to above there was a fixed time limit within which such contract had to be performed, however, there was no provision which in any way could have been construed to negate the possibility of performance within one year.

In *Gronvold v. Whaley*, 39 Wash. 2d 710, 237 P.2d 1026, the Supreme Court of Washington held that where a performance of a certain agreement was not possible until a certain dam was completed, that the fact that the dam could have been completed within one year, but was not expected to be and was not in fact completed for three years, did not place the agreement within the purview of the Statute. In reaching this conclusion, the

Court referred to 2 Corbin on Contracts 541, Section 445 as follows:

A certain performance that would not in itself take a year to complete may be promised at a definite future date more than one year from the time of making the Contract. Such a Contract is within the Statute. But if such a performance is promised at an uncertain time to be determined by the happening of a condition that may possibly occur within one year, the promise cannot be said to be one that is not to be performed within one year and it is not within the one year clause of the Statute. It makes no difference how improbable it is that the condition will occur within a year; if there is any possibility that it may so happen, the statutory provision is not applicable. Nor does it make any difference that the condition is one that may never happen at all.

A like result was reached in *McClanahan v. Otto-Marmet Co.*, 74 W. Va. 543, 82 S.E. 752 wherein the Court held that a contract to cut the timber on certain tracts of land and deliver it as ties and posts was not within the Statute, even though the employee expected when he undertook the work that it would require six years to complete. The court said: "It can only be said that it was not likely to be performed, nor expected by plaintiff to be performed within a year. This was held in *Kimmins v. Oldham*, 27 W. Va. 259, not to bring an agreement within the Statute."

The Supreme Court of the United States considered this section of the Statute of Frauds in the leading case of *Warner v. Texas and Pacific R. Co.*, 164 U.S. 418, 41 L.Ed. 495, 17 S.Ct. 147. In an exhaustive opinion, the

Court stated that "the question is not what the probable or expected or actual performance of the contract was, but whether the contract according to the reasonable interpretation of its terms *required that it should not be performed within a year.*" (Emphasis added). As stated above, there is no indication that performance by the parties was required not to be performed within one year.

3 Williston on Contracts, 3rd Ed. 575 is in accord with the views expressed above and states at Section 495:

It is well settled that oral contracts invalidated by the Statute because not to be performed within a year include those only which cannot be performed within that period.

The interpretation of this provision of the Statute of Frauds is summed up in 49 Am. Jur. 383, Statute of Frauds, Section 23 wherein it is stated that "to bring a case within the Statute *there must be a negation of the right to perform within one year.*" "In other words, that a contract cannot be performed within a year means not a natural or physical impossibility, but *an impossibility by the terms of the contract itself . . .*" (Emphasis added)

The foregoing has been intended as a general survey of the law on this subject, which survey supports the proposition that enforcement of the Agreement found by the jury is not barred by the Statute of Frauds, in that there was nothing in the terms of said Agreement or within the terms of the subcontract upon which such Agreement is in part dependent, which in any way negate the possibility of performance or the right to

perform within one year. In the absence of such restriction within the terms of the Agreement or Subcontract, the Statute is not applicable and the enforcement thereof must not be hampered by the Statute.

The Supreme Court of Utah, chose to place itself within the main stream of judicial thought on this point in *Zion's Service Corporation v. Danielson*, 12 U. 2d 369, 366 P.2d 982, wherein the Court stated at column 1, page 985:

“Where the agreement can be performed within one year, *though this be done by election of one of the parties to terminate, there can be no doubt but that the Statute of Frauds is not applicable.* We agree with the following statement from the Restatement of Contracts and believe it determinative of this question:

‘The words “cannot be fully performed” must be taken literally. The fact that performance within a year is entirely improbable or not expected by the parties, does not bring the contract within this Statute.’ (Sec. 198, Comment b.)

“In *Johnson vs. Johnson*, 31 Utah 408, 88 P. 230, we ruled that a contract by a purchaser of land to pay the seller ‘for life, one-half of the crops produced on the lands’ was not within the above provision since death might occur within one year. *The right to terminate a contract at any time is likewise such an event as may occur within a year and hence the statute does not apply.*” (All emphasis added.)

The position that the Bank urged upon the trial court has been clearly rejected by this Court in a recent

decision involving an identical financial arrangement and an identical factual situation to the case at bar. This Court has clearly held that under these circumstances the Statute of Frauds provision as to performance within one year is not applicable.

In that case, *Commercial Security Bank v. Hodson*, 15 U.2d 388, 393 P.2d 482, this Court stated:

“The exact length of time that this loan should last is not specified, but there is nothing in the evidence which indicates that the loan should not terminate in less than a year.”

In the case before the Court it was not stated exactly how long the revolving credit agreement would last, except that the loans would be made as and when required by M & S to date of final payment from Steenberg.

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