1967

M & S Construction & Engineering Company v.
Clearfield State Bank and Vern M. Smith, et al. :
Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE IS NOT SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE JURY FINDING OF AN AGREEMENT BY RESPONDENT TO FINANCE APPELLANT'S LOST CREEK SUB-CONTRACT

The jury found in response to a special verdict that Respondent, on or about August 23, 1963, agreed to lend M&S, for the purposes of the Lost Creek sub-contract, an amount not to exceed \$50,000, by loaning \$25,000 on August 23, 1963, to be due September 15, 1963, and to renew said loan from time to time to the date of final payment by Steenberg (R-87).

Respondent urges that the evidence, as a matter of law, was not sufficient to support this finding. The evidence on this point is entirely oral, as none of the documents contain such an undertaking by Clearfield. The testimony was received over Respondent's objections that it violated the parol evidence rule (T-60, 80). The notes involved had short term due dates exclusively. M&S asserted at trial (T-80) they were showing an agreement to finance M&S *not* contradictory to the written documents.

Promissory notes are, like any written instrument, subject to the rule as set out in Vol. 5, Utah Law Review, No. 2, at page 159:

"Parol evidence is not admissible to vary, add to or contradict the terms of a written instrument."

The alleged agreement is that the notes were to be *renewed* from time to time (R-87) rather than being paid. The rule is amplified with particular reference to notes in 32 A, C.J.S., Evidence, Sec. 895, Page 254:

“It cannot be shown that the time for the payment of the obligation as agreed on by the parties is different from the date of maturity as appearing in the instrument, *or that there was an agreement at the time of making the note that it would be renewed at maturity * * **”.

Confirming this rule are *Lincoln National Life Insurance Co. v. Bastian*, 31 F.2 859, *Ford vs. Southern Motor Company*, 93 S. 902. In *Garrett vs. Ellison*, 93 U. 184, 72 P.2 449, this court said:

“The instruments involved in this action (the note and mortgage) are contracts between Mrs. Garrett and Mrs. Ellison on the one side, and the Brackens on the other. It was written to evidence the obligation of the Brackens to the payees and fix the terms of the contract as between the payors and payees. Those terms are manifest from the instruments and may not be varied by parol.”

The oral testimony relied on by the jury in finding the agreement to renew the loans without question did violence to the terms of the notes, and should not have been received. Apart from parol evidence, there is the further question of whether the testimony, if properly received, is sufficient. This evidence consisted solely of the testimony of Mendenhall and Stoker, two of the M&S principals.

Stoker testified (T-113) on this matter as follows:

“And it was discussed that the Bank would finance us, starting out with a \$25,000 loan, which would *be paid* with draws from the job as time progressed, *and then* as we needed financing again there would be another \$25,000 advance made, or as the need arose.”

Stoker thus did *not* testify there was an agreement to loan

\$50,000 but only \$25,000. He said in reference to the second loan: (T-115)

“And it was discussing the need, and explaining why *we needed the additional financing, and then obtained this additional \$25,000 loan.*”

Mendenhall testified (T-80) the bank agreed to loan \$25,000 on a “continuity” or revolving basis. His complete testimony regarding the figure of \$50,000 was as follows:

“Q. (By Mr. Elton) Was there anything said on that occasion about the amount that the Bank would advance to you?

“A. I believe there was, yes.

“Q. What was that?

“A. Well, prior to this meeting—

“Q. Yes.

“A. (Continuing)—Mr. Stoker had been in and talked with Mr. Barlow. And they’d found out more about this job.

“Mr. Olmstead: If the Court please—

“Q. (By Mr. Elton) Well, you weren’t present at this one then?

“A. Well, no sir.

“Q. Well, then all right.

Now, on this one we were talking about, was anything else said?

“A. This twenty-five thousand *had been* increased to fifty thousand.”

This, of course, is attempted testimony by Mendenhall to something that happened, if at all, at another time

and place (when he was not present). There is a complete absence of testimony from *any* source that Barlow or any other bank officer, agreed to loan appellant \$50,000 for the entire length of the Steenberg sub-contract, which is the only contract found by the jury.

In direct refutation of any commitment to loan moneys over the term of the subcontract was the testimony of Respondent's officers, Jesse Barlow (T-12, 219), Walter Steed (T-224), Harold Steed (T-232), and Claire Neilsen, M&S Accountant (T-236).

We make no claim that the jury was bound to accept the testimony of Respondent's officers. We do say that M&S had the burden of proof to show the existence of the alleged agreement, and this burden was never met by the evidence. If the parol evidence rule is recognized, there is a complete absence of any evidence of the alleged agreement.

POINT II

THE AGREEMENT FOUND BY THE JURY TO HAVE BEEN MADE BY RESPONDENT IS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS

The prohibition of the statute 25-5-4 (1), U.C.A. 1953, is clear. If an agreement by its terms is not to be performed within one year, it falls within the confines of the statute. The terms of the agreement, as alleged by M&S (R-3) and found by the jury (R-87) provide in part:

“* * * the same to be thereafter renewed from time to time to the date of final payment by Steenberg * * *”
Exhibit B, the subcontract, states

“Subcontractor agrees work must be completed and accepted before *final payment*.”

Further, it provides that the work is,

“To be performed in approximate accord with final approved progress schedule. Starting time shown on Progress Schedule *for each year* to be governed by high water conditions.”

The evidence of time for completion of the work was offered by Emil Walsh, Vice President of Steenberg (T-74, 75), a witness called by Appellant. He stated the time provided in the contract was 880 days, or three construction seasons. The work done by M&S was commenced in July of 1963 (T-180) and continued until November 4, 1963. Then Steenberg took over, and diligently prosecuted the sub-contract work until September of 1965 (T-75), more than 2 years, and was then unfinished. In Walsh’s opinion, the fastest the work *could* have been accomplished under optimum conditions was *two years* (T-75).

No other evidence of the time required for completion of the sub-contract, the main contract, or of the time of “final payment” was adduced.

We agree with Appellant’s contention that “by its terms” refers to the agreement to loan, not to the sub-contract. This does not, however, evade the barrier of the statute, because of the agreement to lend “and to renew said loan from time to time to the date of *final payment* by Steenberg Construction Company.” Accordingly, the agreement to lend is co-existent with the duration of the sub-contract as both run to date of “final payment”.

The evidence appears clear:

- (a) The agreement to loan continued to completion and acceptance of the entire sub-contract work;
- (b) The agreement to loan was *not* one that could be performed within one year, because the sub-contract could not be so performed.

Appellant suggests to this court two separate but similar avenues of escape from the statute. First, it is claimed that since M&S was not *forbidden* to complete the work within one year the contract is not within the statute. We will agree that this court, like the courts in the majority of states, has liberally construed the statute. However, this does not mean explicit terms of agreements have been ignored in an aura of “anything is possible”, such as Appellant suggests.

This statute has been part of our common law heritage for several hundred years, and deserves better. The criteria is what can “fairly and reasonably be said to have been within the contemplation of the parties * * *”. 37 C.J.S. *Frauds, Statute of, Sec. 50.*

A proper construction of the Statute will decide the question of length of time of performance “according to the reasonable interpretation of its terms * * *”, *Warner v. Texas and Pacific R. Co.*, 164 U.S. 418, 41 L. Ed. 495, 175 Ct. 147. The test is not, as Appellant contends, whether the contract *forbids* performance within one year; the test is whether it is one of those “* * * agreements which, *fairly and reasonably* interpreted, do not admit of a valid execution within the year * * *”. *Hellings v. Wright*, 29 Cal. App. 649, 156 P. 365.

Stated another way, in 37 C.J.S. Statute of Frauds, Sec. 50,

“The possibility of performance within one year must be such as can fairly and reasonably be said to have been within the contemplation of the parties; an unforeseen or remote possibility is not sufficient.”

Williston on Contracts (cited by Appellant) Section 500, amplifies this view:

“Sec. 500. Contracts not intended to be performed within a year.

“Another fine but important distinction is between:

“1. A contract which can be performed, as the parties intend that it shall be performed, within a year, though they fully expect that performance will take a longer period and

“2. A contract which cannot be performed within a year, as the parties intend and expect that it shall be performed, though performance in a different way within that time is conceivably possible and if so made would satisfy the literal words of the contract.

“Contracts of the first sort are not within the Statute; those of the second sort are held at least by many courts to be within the Statute. The opinion of the parties as to the time which a given performance will take is immaterial, but if their mutual intentions as to the method cannot possibly be carried out within a year, the fact that another method which would satisfy the legal obligation is logically conceivable will not save the contract.”

“Thus a contract to do construction or engineering work which can only be fulfilled within a year by *abnormal and unusual* methods not within the contemplation of the parties has been held within the statute.” (Emphasis added)

Browne on Statute of Frauds, page 327, Sec. 273, 4th Ed. cited in *Stanley v. Levy, Nev.*, 112 P. 2d 1047, states:

“The result (of decisions) seems to be that the statute does not mean to include an agreement which is simply not likely to be performed, nor yet one which is simply not expected to be performed, within the space of a year from the making; but that it means to include any agreement which, by a fair and reasonable interpretation of the terms used by the parties, and in view of all the circumstances existing at the time,

does not admit of performance according to its language and intention, within a year from the time of its making.”

In this case, the Nevada Supreme Court further held:

“We think that the possibility of performance which would take an agreement out of the statute of frauds must be such as could fairly and reasonably be said to have been within the contemplation of the parties. An unforeseen or remote possibility will not rescue the agreement from invalidity.”

Thus, in *Markowitz Brothers, Inc., vs. Volpe*, 209 F. Supp. 339, 1962, a factual situation similar to the instant was held within the statute:

“Performance of this sub-contract concluded, if at all, on January 18, 1962, could not even begin until some indefinite future date. The work was of a type which was to extend for nearly, if not all, of the time of the main contract. The main contract itself contemplated that completion should be within 660 days, and while it could have been possible to complete it within a year, upon a three shift priority basis, it was not contemplated by the Government, the general or the sub-contractor that it should be so completed.”

The case of *Gronwald v. Whaley*, 39 Wash. 2710, 237 P. 2d 1026, relied upon by Appellant, is factually dissimilar from the present. In that case, the agreement was to continue until the enterprise was successful. Independent evidence showed the enterprise probably would not be successful until a certain dam was completed, and also affirmatively showed that the dam *could* be completed in less than one year. In such a case, the court merely held that performance was indeed possible. In our case, the uncontradicted evidence shows the project could *not* be completed within one year, the reverse of *Gronwald*.

Again, *Commercial Security Bank vs. Hodson*, 15 U. 2d 388, 393 P. 2d 482, is factually dissimilar. As quoted by Appellant (Page 15, App. Brief) "The exact length of time this loan should last is not specified * * *." In the present case the length of time is specifically set out—to "final payment"—some three years hence.

The second argument advanced by Appellant is the "as and when required" argument. It is suggested by Appellant that it is here bolstered by language contained in *Zions Service Corporation vs. Danielson*, 12 U. 2d 369, 366 P. 2d 982. In reality, the reverse is true. The distinction is covered by Williston on Contracts, Rev. Ed. Vol. 2, Sec. 498:

"Promises subject to an express defeasance or providing for alternative performance. The distinction between an excuse for not performing and completion of performance * * * is taken in contracts requiring for their performance a period exceeding a year but which are subject to a right of defeasance, not by operation of law but by the express terms of the contract, within the period of a year, as a contract for several years' service containing a provision permitting termination by either party on a week's or month's notice. Such contracts are generally held within the Statute."

Coan v. Provinger, C.C.A. District of Columbia, 1959, 265 F. 2d 575, considers this point:

"That contingency contemplates an annulment of the terms of the contract and would operate as a defeasance, thereby terminating and discharging the contract. Further performance under the contract would be impossible by either party. This annulment or defeasance provision does not contemplate the performance of the contract but only its termination and

cancellation. Although it could be annulled within a year, it was none the less a personal service contract to last for more than a year, e.g., until appellant completed his studies at Georgetown University Law School. Although this annulment or defeasance provision relieves the parties from further performance of the contract, it is not the type of performance that is necessary to take the case out of the operation of the statute.”

Another Circuit Court case, *Blue Valley Creamery vs. Consolidated Products*, 8th C.C.A., 81 F. 2d 182, reviews this distinction:

“It is generally held that a contract for a definite period extending over a year is not taken out of the statute by an option allowing either party to terminate it within a year. The performance contemplated by the statute is a full and complete performance and a cancellation is not such a performance. (Cases Cited)

“Much of the confusion in considering the applicability of the statute apparently arises from failing to keep in mind the distinction between a contingency of such a nature as fulfills the obligation and one that defeats or prevents it from being performed. The one that depends upon the defeasance or matter of avoidance is within the statute, while the other is not.”

This view is adopted by the 5th Circuit in *Stahlman v. National Lead Company*, (1963), 318 F. 2d 388:

“Under Mississippi law and the weight of authority, an oral contract, which, *by its terms*, is not to be performed within the statutory period (here, 15 months) or where the parties intend that it shall continue in operation beyond the statutory period, is not taken without the Statute by a provision that it may be terminated by either party within such period. In *Fireman’s Fund Inc. Co. vs. Williams*, 170 Miss. 199,

154 So. 545, 546, the court said, with respect to a contract which could be terminated on 10 days' notice by either party, 'the termination of such a contract is not performance of it, but is a mere frustration thereof.' "

Further 37 C.J.S. Statute of Frauds, Sec. 48:

"It is generally held that a contract for a definite period extending over a year is not taken out of the statute by an option allowing either party to terminate it within a year. The reasons underlying this view are that, since the performance contemplated by the statute is full and complete performance, supra Sec. 42, a rescission or cancellation of a contract is not a performance of it."

This view is set out as the ruling law by the Restatement of Contracts, Sec. 198 (specifically relied upon by this court in the Danielson decision), Comment C:

"C. A distinction must be taken between promises which can be 'fully performed' within a year and promises which though they cannot be 'fully performed' within that time may be excused within it by the happening of some event. The former class is not within Class V; the latter class is."

To illustrate this distinction, the Restatement provides two examples, Nos. 2 and 3 in Sec. 198:

"2. A orally promises to work for B, and B promises to employ A during A's life at a stated salary. The promises are not within Class V. A's life may terminate within a year.

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